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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT a?Nﬁ%%& o
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION MAR 1 2 2003
Sichaal 1. Uifby, Clark of Gourg
In Re Enron Corporation §
Securities, Derivative & § MDL-1446
"ERISA Litigation §
§
THIS DOCUMENT RELATES TO: 8
§
All Cases §
§
MARK NEWBY, ET AL., §
§
Plaintiffs §
8§
vsS. § CIVIL ACTION NO. H-01-3624
§ CONSOLIDATED CASES
ENRON CORPORATION, ET AL., §
§
Defendants §

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY

OF CALIFORNIA, ET AL.,

Individually and On Behalf of

All Others Similarly Situated,
Plaintiffs,

VS.

KENNETH L. LAY, ET AL.,

Defendants.
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MEMORANDUM AND ORDER REGARDING
ENRON OUTSIDE DIRECTOR DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS
Lead Plaintiff the Regents of the University of California’s
consolidated complaint in the above referenced putative class
action, brought on behalf of purchasers of Enron Corporation's
publicly traded equity and debt securities during a proposed

federal Class Period from October 19, 1998 through November 27,

HL207



2001, alleges violations of (1) Sections 11 and 15 of the
Securities Act of 1933 ("1933 Act"), 15 U.S8.C. 8§ 77k and 770; (2)
Sections 10(b), 20{(a), and 20A of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 ("Exchange Act" or “the 1934 Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b),
78t (a), and 78t-1, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5;
and (3) the Texas Securities Act, Texas Rev. Civ. Stat. Ann. art.
581-33 (Vernon’s 1964 & 2002 Supp.).

Pending before the Court inter alia are moticns to dismiss
pursuant to Rules 8, 9(b), and 12(b) (6) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, section 21D (b) (3) of the Exchange Act, as amended,
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “PSLRA”),
codified at 15 U.S.C. §78u-4(b) (3) (A), and Central Bank of Denver
v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. 164 (1994), filed by
the following Enron Outside Director Defendants:

(1) Certain Current and Former Directors
(Robert A. Belfer, Norman P. Blake, Jr.,
Ronnie C. Chan, John H. Duncan,! Joe H.
Foy, Wendy L. Gramm, Ken L. Harrison,

Robert K. Jaedicke, Charles A. LeMaistre,

! Qutside Director John Duncan will be identified as “Duncan,”
while Arthur Andersen’s David Duncan will be referred to by his
full name.



Rebecca Mark-Jusbasche,? John Mendelsochn,
Jerome J. Meyer, Paulo V. Ferraz Pereira,
Frank Savage, John A. Urquhart, John
Wakeham, Charles Walker, and Herbert S.
Winokur, Jr.) (#661);

(2) [Present and Former Outside Directors]
Robert A. Belfer, Norman P. Blake, Jr.,
Ronnie C. Chan, John H. Duncan, Joe H.
Foy, Wendy L. Gramm, Robert K. Jaedicke,
Charles A. LeMaistre, John Mendelsohn,
Jerome J. Meyer, Paulo V. Ferraz Pereira,
Frank Savage, John Wakeham, Charles E.
Walker, and Herbert S. Winokur (#662);

(3) John A. Urquhart (#647); and

(4) Alliance Capital Management L.P.
(*Alliance”), for failure to state a § 15
claim® for which relief can be granted
(#618) .

Also pending are a Joint Motion of Certain Defendants (Belfer,

? During the Clasg Period Harrison and Mark-Jusbasche were

Enron executives, not Outside Director Defendants.

* The complaint alleges that Alliance was a controlling-person
of controlled-person Frank Savage, who, during the Class Period,
was concurrently Chairman of Alliance Capital Management
International, a division of Defendant Alliance, and a director
(and thus an employee) of Alliance, as well as an Outside Director
of Enron Corporation.



Blake, Chan, Duncan, Foy, Gramm, Jaedicke, LeMaistre, Mendelsohn,
Meyer, Ferraz Pereira, Savage, Wakeham, Walker, Winokur, Urquhart,
and Mark-Jusbasche) to Strike the Pulsifer Class Action Complaint
(#1042), joined by Enron executives Kenneth L. Lay (#1047), Richard
A. Causey (#1052), and Ken L. Harrison (#1053), and Lead
Plaintiff’s request for leave to amend (#839) should the Court
determine that any part of the complaint should be dismissed.

The Court hereby incorporates its summaries of the alleged
facts and applicable law in its memorandum and order of December
20, 2002 (#1194),°% regarding the secondary actors’ motions to
dismiss, and its memorandum and order of January 28, 2003 (#1241),°
addressing the Individual Andersen Defendants’ motions to dismiss,
in particular its conclusions about the group pleading doctrine and

controlling person liability.

SUPPLEMENTAL APPLICABLE LAW
A. Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 Violations
1. Signing false or misleading documents to be filed with the SEC

A corporate official, acting with scienter, who on behalf of

the corporation signs a document that is filed with the SEC that

* Also available as In re Enron Corp. Sec., Derivative &

“ERISA” Litig., 235 F. Supp. 2d 549, Fed. Sec. L. Rep. 9§ 92,239
(s.D. Tex. Dec. 20, 2002).

> Also available as In re Enron Corp. Sec., Derivative &
“ERISA” Litig., No. MDL-1446, CIV. A. H-01-3624, 2003 WL 230688
(S.D. Tex. Jan. 28, 2003).



contains material misrepresentations, such as a fraudulent Form 10-
K, regardless of whether he participated in the drafting of the
document, “makes” a statement and may be liable as a primary
vioclator under § 10(b) for making a false statement. Howard V.
Everex Systems, Inc., 228 F.3d 1057, 1061 (9*" Cir. 2000), citing
AUSA Life Ins. Co. v. Dwyer (In re JWP Inc., Sec. Litig.), 928 F.
Supp. 1239, 1255-56 (8.D.N.Y. 1996) (holding that a director who
signs a fraudulent Form 10-K with scienter can be liable as a
primary violator for making a false statement under § 10(b)), and
F.N. Wolf & Co., Inc. v. Estate of Neal, No. 89 Civ. 1223 (CSH),
1991 WL 34186, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 25, 1991) (holding that a
“director signing a document filed with the SEC . . . ‘makes or
causes to be made’ the statements contained therein” under § 18 (a)
of the 1934 Act). See also In re Cabletron Systems, Inc., 311 F.3d
11, 40 (1°° Cir. 2002); In re Reliance Sec. Litig., 135 F. Supp. 2d
480, 503 (D. Del. 2001); In re Indep. Energy Holdings PLC Sec.
Litig., 154 F. Supp. 2d 741, 767 (S.D.N.Y. 2001), abrogated on
other grounds, In re Initial Public Offering Sec. Litig., ____F.
Supp. 2d ___, No. 21 MC 92 (SAS), 2003 WL 358003 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 19,
2003); In re Lernout & Hauspie Sec. Litig, 286 B.R. 33, 37 (D.
Mass. 2002) (signatures of three members of the Audit Committee on
statements filed with the SEC “satisfy the requirement that
defendants make a fraudulent statement” for liability under §

10(b)); In re Lernout & Hauspie Sec. Litig., 230 F. Supp. 24 152,



163 (D. Mass. 2002) (*It is well established in this Circuit that
each defendant may be held responsible for the false and misleading
statements contained in the financial statements he signed [under
§ 10(b)],” citing Serabian v. Amoskeag Bank Shares, Inc., 24 F.3d
357, 367-68 (1°%° Cir. 1994)). The Ninth Circuit explained that "“by
placing responsibility on corporate officers to ensure the validity
of corporate filings, investors are further protected from
misleading information.” Howard, 228 F.3d at 1061. Furthermore,
“[k]ey corporate officers should not be allowed to make important
false financial statements knowingly or recklessly, yet still
shield themselves from liability to investors simply by failing to
be involved in the preparation of those statements. Otherwise the
securities laws would be significantly weakened . . . .” Id. at
1062.

The SEC has attempted to make signatures on corporate
documents that are filed with the SEC carry significant weight.
Noting that the signature requirements for Form 10-K [in General
Instruction D of Form 10-K°® and General Instruction C of Form 10-
KSB] were amended in 1980 to “‘enhance director awareness of and

participation in the preparation of the Form 10-K information, ’”

® Instruction D to Form 10-K requires that a report be signed
by the registrant and on the registrant’s behalf by its principal
executive officer or officers, its principal financial officer, its
controller or principal accounting officer, and at least the
majority of the registrant’s board of directors or persons
performing similar functions.



the SEC has explained that “by signing documents filed with the
Commission, board members implicitly indicate that they believe
that the filing is accurate and complete.” “Audit Committee
Disclosure” (S.E.C. Release No. 41987), 1999 WL 955908 at *29 n.57,
*9 (Oct. 7, 1999). Similarly, in a brief submitted to the Ninth
Circuit during the litigation of Howard, the SEC stated, “‘'When the
public sees a corporate official’s signature on a document, it
understands that the official is thereby stating that he believes
that the statements in the document are true.’” Id. at *9, citing
Brief for SEC, Amicus Curiae, at 7, Howard v. Everex Systems, Inc.

(9" Cir. 1999) (No. 98-17324).7

2

As evidence of the growing import placed by the SEC on
corporate officers’ and directors’ signatures on documents to be
filed with the SEC, in its post-Enron efforts to protect investors,
the SEC in a June 27, 2002 investigative order required the chief
financial officer and the chief executive officer of the 947
largest public companies to certify the accuracy of their
companies’ financial statements with their signatures on all annual
and quarterly Form 10-K and Form 10-Q reports by August 14, 2002.
File No. 4-460: Order Reqguiring the Filing of Sworn Statements
Pursuant to Section 21(a) (1) of the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934 (June 27, 2002).

In addition, certification by the CEO and CFO is also required
under two different provisions, Section 302 and Section 906, of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Under Section 302, which amends the
Exchange Act and became effective August 29, 2002, the signing
officer must certify that he has reviewed the Form 10-K or 10-Q
report, that based on his knowledge that report does not omit or
misstate a material fact and the financial information fairly
presents in all material respects the financial condition and
results of operations of the company and complies with new Exchange
Act Rules requiring an issuer to establish and maintain a system of
disclosure controls and procedures. Under Section 906, which
amends the federal criminal code (Title 18 of the U.S. Code) and
became effective July 30, 2002, similar certification is required
on the same periodic reports, and criminal penalties may be imposed

.7



2. Insider Trading as a Primary Violation

Allegations of insider trading may serve different purposes
under the federal securities laws, including the following: as a
primary violation of § 10(b) of the 1934 Act and Rule 10b-5; as a
means to raise a strong inference of scienter for a § 10(b)
violation; and as the basis for an independent, but derivative,
claim under § 20A of the Exchange Act.®

To plead a violation of § 10(b), a plaintiff must allege both
(1) a breach of a fiduciary duty, such as the duty to disclose, and
“manipulation or deception,” Santa Fe Industries v. Green, 430 U.S.

462, 472 (1977); and (2) scienter, or “intent to deceive,

for knowing and willfully false certifications by the CEO and CFO.

In the its “Proposed Rule; Certification of Disclosure in
Companies’ Quarterly and Annual Reports, Release No. 34-46300 (Aug.
2, 2002), the SEC indicated that under Section 302 complying with
GAAP alone was not sufficient and that Congress “intended this
statement to provide assurances that the financial information
disclosed in a report, viewed in its entirety, meets a standard of
overall material accuracy and completeness that is broader than
financial reporting requirements under generally accepted
accounting principles.” Moreover, according to the SEC, “fair
presentation” includes “the selection of appropriate accounting
policies, proper application of appropriate accounting policies,
disclosure of financial information that is informative and
reasonably reflects the underlying transactions and events and the
inclusion of any additional disclosure necessary to provide
investors with a materially accurate and complete picture of an
issuer’s financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.” Id.

8 The Court reminds the parties because of arguments in their
briefs that the Court has previously ruled that the declaration of
Lead Plaintiff’s expert Scott Hakala would not be considered in
determining the adequacy of Lead Plaintiff’s pleading of insider
trading. #996, entered on 8/9/02.

-8-



manipulate, or defraud,” Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185,
193 (1976).
Duty to Disclose

Rule 10b-5 does not impose on a corporation an affirmative
duty to disclose all nonpublic material information that it has
about the corporation, and where a material omission is alleged,
there is no liability under the federal securities laws unless that
corporation has a duty to disclose such information. Chiarella v.
United States, 445 U.S. 222, 235 (1980) (*a duty to disclose under
§ 10(b) does not arise from the mere possession of nonpublic market
information”); Dirks v. SEC, 463 U.S. 646, 654 (1983); Basic Inc.
v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 239 n.17 (1988) (“Silence, absent a duty
to disclose, is not misleading under Rule 10b-5.7); Gross v. Summa
Four, Inc., 93 F.3d 987, 992 (1%° Cir. 1996); Starkman v. Marathon
0il Co., 772 F.2d 231, 238 (6% Cir. 1985) (“[T]he established view
ig that a ‘duty to speak’ must exist before the disclosure of
material facts is required under Rule 10b-5.7), cert. denied, 475
U.S. 1015 (1986); Glazer v. Formica Corp., 964 F.2d 149, 156-57 (2d
Cir. 1992).

Courts have imposed a duty to disclose on corporations and/or

its officers’ in certain circumstances. “The duty to disclose only

° The duty to disclose or abstain from trading applies to a
corporate issuer that trades in its own securities as well as to
the corporation’s insiders, individually. Kohler v. Kohler Co.,
319 F.2d 634, 638 (7 Cir. 1963); McCormick v. Fund American Cos.,
Inc., 26 F.3d 869, 876 (9*" Cir. 1994); Shaw v. Digital Equipment,

_9.



arises if the person is in a position of trust.” SEC v. Fox, 855
F.2d 245, 252 (5% Cir. 1988), citing Chiarella, 445 U.S. at 235;
see also United States v. Ruggiero, 56 F.3d 647, 654-55 (5% Cir.
1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 979 (1995). One such situation is
when a corporate insider trades on confidential information
(intended to be available only for a corporate purpose and not for
the personal benefit of anyone”) and makes “secret profits.”
Chiarella, 445 U.S. at 228-29; Dirks, 463 U.S. at 654; United
States v. O’Hagan, 521 U.S. 642, 652 (1997); United States v.
Ruggiero, 56 F.3d at 654-55. Thus Section 10(b) may be violated
where the trading in the corporation’s sgecurities arises "“in
connection with” a breach of a fiduciary duty and where there is
also manipulation or deception. Dirks, 463 U.S. at 654; Chiarella,
445 U.S. at 232-36. The fiduciary duty is not imposed because of
the nonpublic nature of the information; rather “liability under §
[sic] 10b-5 attaches by virtue of the relationship between the

shareholders and the individual trading on the inside information”

in whom those shareholders “‘had placed their trust and
confidence.’” Ruggiero, 56 F.3d at 654-55. The SEC long ago
concluded that an "“affirmative duty to disclose . . . material

facts which are known to [the insider] by virtue of [his] position
but which are not known to persons with whom [the insider] deal [s]

and which, if known, would affect their investment judgment,”

82 F.3d 1194, 1203-04 (1st Cir. 1996) (en banc).

-10-



arises “from (i) the existence of a relationship affording access
to inside information intended to be available only for a corporate
purpose, and (ii) the unfairness of allowing a corporate insider to
take advantage of that information by trading without disclosure.”
Chiarella, 445 U.S. at 227 (1980), citing In re Cady, Roberts &
Co., 40 S.E.C. 907, 911, 912 (1961) (holding that a corporate
insider must either disclose all material inside information known
to him because of his corporate position or abstain from trading
the securities of his corporation). See also SEC v. Texas Gulf
Sulphur Co., 401 F.2d 833, 848 (2d Cir. 1968) (en banc), cert.
denied, 394 U.S. 976 (1969); SEC v. MacDonald, 699 F.2d 47, 50 (1°%°
Cir. 1983) (en banc); Shaw v. Digital Equipment, 82 F.3d 1194, 1203
(1st Cir. 1996) (en banc).

As another instance where a duty to disclose is imposed by law
on corporations, when a corporation makes a disclosure of material
fact, voluntarily or involuntarily, the courts have recognized that
“there is a duty to make it complete and accurate.” Roeder v.
Alpha Industries, Inc., 814 F.2d 22, 26 (1% Cir. 1987), citing
Texas Gulf Sulphur, 401 F.2d at 860-61; Gross v. Summa Four, Inc.,
93 F.3d at 992; Glazer v. Formica Corp., 964 F.2d 149, 156-57 (24
Cir. 1992); Sailors v. Northern States Power Co., 4 F.3d 610, 611
(8t Cir. 1993). The Fifth Circuit has held that “under Rule 10b-5,
‘a duty to speak the full truth arises when a defendant undertakes

a duty to say anything.’” Rubinstein v. Collins, 20 F.3d 160, 170

_7l-



(5" Cir. 1994), citing First Virginia Bankshares v. Benson, 559
F.2d 1307, 1317 (5™ Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 952 (1978).
It furthermore noted that defendants “have a duty under Rule 10b-5
to correct statements if those statements Dbecome materially
misleading in light of subsequent events.” Id. at 170 n.41, citing
Backman v. Polaroid Corp., 910 F.2d 10, 17 (1° Cir. 1990); In re
Phillips Petroleum Sec. Litig., 881 F.2d 1236, 1245 (3d Cir. 1989);
Hanon v. Dataproducts Corp., 976 F.2d 497, 503-04 (9" Cir. 1992);
Rudolph v. Arthur Andersen & Co., 800 F.2d 1040, 1043 (11" Cir.
1986), cert. denied, 480 U.S. 946 (1987).
Manipulation or Deception

Section 10(b) does not use the term, “insider trading,” but
because of the special relationship of trust and confidence between
shareholders and corporate insiders, courts have concluded that
“insider trading by a corporate 1insider based on material,
nonpublic information, qualifies as a ‘deceptive device’ under §
10 (b) and violates the insiders’s duty to disclose or abstain from
trading and therefore constitutes a manipulative act." In re Sec.
Litig. BMC Software, Inc., 183 F. Supp. 2d 860, 869 n.18 (S.D. Tex.
2001), citing O’Hagan, 521 U.S. at 652; Dirks, 463 U.S. at 654;
Shaw, 83 F.3d at 1203. Moreover in a new rule, 17 C.F.R. §
240.10b5-1(a), effective August 24, 2000, the SEC made explicit,

The “manipulative and deceptive devices” prohibited by

Section 10(b) of the Act (15 U.S.C. §78j) and § 240.20b-5
thereunder include, among other things, the purchase or

-12-




































































































































































































































































































































































































































